# Unclassified

# ENV/JM/MONO(99)14



Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Economiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development OLIS : 01-Jun-1999 Dist. : 02-Jun-1999

**English text only** 

ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE JOINT MEETING OF THE CHEMICALS COMMITTEE AND THE WORKING PARTY ON CHEMICALS

Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology No. 12

CONSENSUS DOCUMENT ON THE BIOLOGY OF PICEA ABIES (L.) KARST (NORWAY SPRUCE)

English text only

78651

Document complet disponible sur OLIS dans son format d'origine Complete document available on OLIS in its original format

#### Also published in the Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology:

No. 1, Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology: Survey Results (1995)

No. 2, Analysis of Information Elements Used in the Assessment of Certain Products of Modern Biotechnology (1995)

No. 3, Report of the OECD Workshop on the Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology (1995)

No. 4, Industrial Products of Modern Biotechnology Intended for Release to the Environment: The Proceedings of the Fribourg Workshop (1996)

No. 5, Consensus Document on General Information concerning the Biosafety of Crop Plants Made Virus Resistant through Coat Protein Gene-Mediated Protection (1996)

No. 6, Consensus Document on Information Used in the Assessment of Environmental Applications Involving Pseudomonas (1997)

No. 7, Consensus Document on the Biology of Brassica Napus L. (Oilseed Rape) (1997)

No. 8, *Consensus Document on the Biology of* Solanum tuberosum *subsp.* tuberosum (*Potato*) (1997)

No. 9, Consensus Document on the Biology of Triticum aestivum (Bread Wheat) (1999)

No. 10, Consensus Document on General Information Concerning the Genes and Their Enzymes that Confer Tolerance to Glyphosate Herbicide (1999)

No. 11, Consensus Document on General Information Concerning the Genes and Their Enzymes that Confer Tolerance to Phosphinothricin Herbicide (1999)

Consensus Document on the Biology of Picea glauca (Moench) Voss (White Spruce) (in preparation)

Consensus Document on the Biology of Populus L. (Poplars) (in preparation)

Consensus Document on the Biology of Oryza sativa (Rice) (in preparation)

Consensus Document on Information Used in the Assessment of Environmental Applications Involving Rhizobiacea (in preparation)

Consensus Document on Information Used in the Assessment of Environmental Applications Involving Bacillus (in preparation)

### © OECD 1999

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be made to: Head of Publications Service, OECD, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France.

# OECD Environmental Health and Safety Publications

Series on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology

No. 12

# **Consensus Document on the Biology of** *Picea abies* (L.) Karst (Norway Spruce)

**Environment Directorate** 

**Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development** 

**Paris 1999** 

# About the OECD

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) is an intergovernmental organisation in which representatives of 29 industrialised countries in North America, Europe and the Pacific, as well as the European Commission, meet to co-ordinate and harmonize policies, discuss issues of mutual concern, and work together to respond to international problems. Most of the OECD's work is carried out by more than 200 specialized Committees and subsidiary groups composed of Member country delegates. Observers from several countries with special status at the OECD, and from interested international organisations, attend many of the OECD's Workshops and other meetings. Committees and subsidiary groups are served by the OECD Secretariat, located in Paris, France, which is organised into Directorates and Divisions.

The Environmental Health and Safety Division publishes free-of-charge documents in six different series: **Testing** and Assessment; Good Laboratory Practice and Compliance Monitoring; Pesticides; Risk Management; Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology; and Chemical Accidents. More information about the Environmental Health and Safety Programme and EHS publications is available on the OECD's World Wide Web site (see below).

This publication is available electronically, at no charge.

For the complete text of this and many other Environmental Health and Safety publications, consult the OECD's World Wide Web site (http://www.oecd.org/ehs/)

or contact:

OECD Environment Directorate, Environmental Health and Safety Division

> 2 rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France

Fax: (33) 01 45 24 16 75

E-mail: ehscont@oecd.org

# FOREWORD

The OECD's Working<sup>1</sup> Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology decided at its first session, in June 1995, to focus its work on the development of **Consensus Documents** that are mutually recognised among Member countries. These Consensus Documents contain information for use during the regulatory assessment of a particular product. In the area of plant biosafety, Consensus Documents are being developed on the biology of certain plant species, on specific genes and resulting proteins that, when introduced into a plant, result in the expression of specific traits, and on biosafety issues arising from certain general trait modifications made to plants.

This document, which was prepared by Norway as lead country, addresses the biology of the species *Picea abies* (L.) Karst [Norway spruce]. Although Fennoscandia is the source of much of the data presented, the principles are relevant throughout the area of the natural range of Norway spruce.

For additional information on this species, readers are referred to the work of Schmidt-Vogt (1977, 1986, 1989, 1991). It contains a wealth of knowledge on Norway spruce and is indispensable to those studying the biology of the species in depth.

The Joint Meeting of the Chemicals Committee and Working Party on Chemicals has recommended that this document be made available to the public. It is published on the authority of the Secretary-General of the OECD.

1.

In August 1998, following a decision by the OECD Council to rationalise the names of Committees and Working Groups across the OECD, the "<u>Expert</u> Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology" became the "<u>Working</u> Group".

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble			
Section I	General Description and Use in Forestry11		
Section II	Forest Practices for Norway Spruce		
Section III	Centres of Origin and Immigration History16		
Section IV	Reproductive Biology17		
Section V	Crosses		
Section VI	Genetic Variability		
Section VII	Ecology		
Section VIII	References		
Questionnaire to Return to the OECD			

# Preamble

OECD Member countries are now commercialising and marketing agricultural and industrial products of modern biotechnology. They have identified the need for harmonization of regulatory approaches for the assessment of these products, in order to avoid unnecessary trade barriers.

In 1993, **Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology** was instituted as a joint project of the OECD's Environment Policy Committee and its Committee on Agriculture. The objective of this project is to assist countries in their regulatory oversight of agricultural products derived through modern biotechnology – specifically in their efforts to ensure safety, to make oversight policies more transparent and efficient, and to facilitate trade. The project is focused on the review of national policies, with respect to regulatory oversight, that will affect the movement of these products into the marketplace.

The first step of this project was to carry out a survey concentrating on national policies in regard to regulatory oversight of these products. Data requirements for products produced through modern biotechnology, and mechanisms for data assessment, were also surveyed. The results were published in *Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology: Survey Results* (OECD, 1995).

Subsequently, an OECD Workshop was held in June 1994 in Washington, D.C. with the aim of improving awareness and understanding of the various systems of regulatory oversight developed for agricultural products of biotechnology; identifying similarities and differences in various approaches; and identifying the most appropriate role for the OECD in further work towards harmonization of these approaches. Approximately 80 experts in the areas of environmental biosafety, novel food safety and varietal seed certification, representing 16 OECD countries, eight non-member countries, the European Commission and several international organisations, participated in the Workshop. *Report of the OECD Workshop on the Commercialisation of Agricultural Products Derived through Modern Biotechnology* was also published by the OECD in 1995.

As a next step towards harmonization, the Working Group on Harmonization of Regulatory Oversight in Biotechnology instituted the development of **Consensus Documents** that are **mutually recognised** among Member countries. The purpose of these documents is to describe common elements in the safety assessment of a new plant variety developed through modern biotechnology, to encourage information sharing and prevent duplication of effort among countries. These common elements fall into three general categories: the biology of the host plant species, or crop; the introduced genes and gene products conferring the novel trait; and biosafety issues arising from the introduction of certain general trait types into plants.

This Consensus Document is a "snapshot" of current information that may be relevant in a regulatory risk assessment. It is meant to be useful not only to regulatory officials, as a general guide and reference source, but also to industry and others carrying out research and product development.

It is anticipated that the Consensus Documents related to genes and products that confer novel traits, together with the relevant Consensus Documents on plant species biology and those providing information on biosafety issues arising from the use of general trait types in plants, will be of use in the biosafety assessment of genetically modified plants.

Reference to two other OECD publications that have appeared in recent years will also prove useful. *Traditional Crop Breeding Practices: An Historical Review to Serve as a Baseline for Assessing the Role of Modern Biotechnology* presents information concerning 17 different crop plants. It includes sections on phytosanitary considerations in the movement of germplasm and on current end uses of the crop plants. There is also a detailed section on current breeding practices. *Safety Considerations for Biotechnology: Scale-Up of Crop Plants* provides a background on plant breeding, discusses scale dependency effects, and identifies various safety issues related to the release of plants with "novel traits".<sup>1</sup>

To ensure that scientific and technical developments are taken into account, OECD countries have agreed that Consensus Documents will be updated regularly. Additional areas relevant to the subject of each Consensus Document will be considered at the time of updating.

Users are therefore invited to provide relevant new scientific and technical information, and to make proposals concerning additional areas that might be considered in the future. A short, pre-addressed questionnaire is included <u>at the end of this document</u>. The information requested should be sent to the OECD at one of the addresses shown.

<sup>1.</sup> For more information on these and other OECD publications, contact the OECD Publications Service, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France. Fax: (33) 01.49.10.42.76; E-mail: PUBSINQ@oecd.org; or consult http://www.oecd.org

Also see the BioTrack Online web page at http://www.oecd.org/ehs/service.htm

# Section I - General Description and Use in Forestry

# Taxonomy

Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) belongs to the genus Picea, which includes at least 36 different species that all have their distribution in the northern hemisphere (Schmidt-Vogt 1977). The species *P. abies* has been designated by a large number of synonyms, partly caused by classification to different species or subspecies due to its great number of varieties and forms. The best known of these is the classification of the Siberian spruce in a separate species, *P. obovata*, based on the shape of its cone scales. These variations, however, should be considered as normal patterns of varieties (Schmidt-Vogt 1977, 1978).

#### Use of Norway spruce

Norway spruce is the economically most important conifer tree species in Europe. It has a long history of cultivation in central Europe, and has been seeded and planted very intensely since the middle of the 19th century. This has changed natural forests into artificial ones and has led to the species' introduction far outside its natural range, both in countries where it occurs naturally (e.g. Germany and Norway) and in new countries such as Denmark, Belgium and Ireland. To some extent, Norway spruce has also been planted in North America.

Norway spruce has shown good yield and quality performance under very different site conditions, and this favoured the species over a long period. In some areas, where maladapted provenances were used, damage and reduced yield have occurred. In the last two decades the species has suffered severely during the forest decline in central Europe, resulting in stands with high percentages of trees with needle loss (Wolf 1995) or in completely destroyed stands (Vancura 1995). The health problems of the central European spruce forest, and reduced possibilities for recreation in young spruce stands, have to some extent reduced the popularity of this species for reforestation, particularly outside its natural range.

# Section II - Forest Practices for Norway Spruce

# **Breeding of Norway spruce**

Usually the goal of breeding programmes is to produce superior material for reforestation by managing genetic variability. Breeding of Norway spruce was initiated in several European countries in the late 1940s (Danell 1991, Mikola 1993). In some countries the work started with the selection of phenotypically superior trees ("plus trees") in natural stands (Skrøppa 1982b, Mikola 1993, Gabrilavicius and Pliura 1993). Mature trees that had superior height and diameter growth, and stem and branch quality, compared to neighbouring trees in the stand were selected. They were grafted in multiple copies on rootstocks in clonal archives or seed orchards. Each grafted seed orchard is composed of a rather large number of selected clones (50-500), with the intention of seed production for one geographic region. The seed orchard will generally start to flower 10-15 years after grafting. However, both the regularity and amount of flowering are very dependent on climatic conditions at the orchard site. To promote flowering, seed orchards have often been located to sites with a warmer climate than that from which the selected parents originate and where the orchard seed is intended for use.

It was soon realised that the selection of plus trees in natural Norway spruce stands is not an efficient method of selecting superior genotypes. It is necessary to test the genetic value of each parent, based on an evaluation of its offspring. In Norway this is done in progeny tests planted at several sites, where measurements are made of survival, height and diameter growth, and quality traits. The progeny tests are sometimes supplemented with tests in which seedlings are grown under controlled conditions in growth chambers and measurements are made of physiological traits. On the basis of several traits, a subset of the original parents is selected for further breeding. Seeds for practical planting can be collected in the orchard from the selected parents, the orchard can be thinned, or a new orchard can be established based on the selected group.

In other countries, breeding programmes were based on selected materials from populations with high adaptive potentials observed in comparative provenance trials. According to performances measured in progeny trials with families from these populations, the best individuals within progeny were selected either directly to produce seeds in seed orchards, or to create a breeding population through controlled crosses. Some of these programmes were also aimed at mass production of rooted cuttings of tested and selected clones (Birot 1982, van de Sype and Roman-Amat 1989, Kleinschmit 1993). Of major concern in the development of breeding strategies have been the breeding objectives; the sizes of the breeding and seed producing populations required to maintain genetic diversity; design and efficiency in testing; and identification of suitable regions where the orchard seed should be recommended for use. Based on test results, gains from the original plus tree selection have been estimated, at 6% genetic improvement in height growth at stand closure (Danell 1991). An additional 10% advance in the selected trait can be expected after progeny testing and further selection.

In Norway, Sweden and Finland several thousand selected spruce trees have been grafted in seed orchards or clonal archives. A large number of these have been progeny tested. Most seed orchards,

however, consist of the original set of non-tested parents. In some orchards selective harvests have been made on the basis of progeny test results. The main selection criteria have been traits characterising the annual growth rhythm, height growth, and the avoidance of damage in field tests. Artificial freezing tests are being used to determine autumn frost hardiness, particularly for materials intended to be planted at high altitudes or far north. Each seed orchard is intended to produce seed for a specific region, which is determined by the origin of the parents and the growth rhythm and hardiness performance of the orchard offspring.

Seed orchard breeding is also the most common technique being used for spruce in central and eastern Europe (e.g. Dolgolikov 1993, Gabrilavicius and Pliura 1993, Kleinschmit 1993). Special types of orchards have been established, based on materials from provenance trials, in order to reconstitute provenances that probably no longer exist or are untraceable (Giertych 1993). Clonal breeding programmes based on rooted cuttings have been developed in Germany (Kleinschmit 1993) and Sweden (Karlsson 1993).

# **Reproductive methods**

#### Flower induction

Application of growth regulators, primarily giberellins, has become an efficient method of regulating flowering in forest trees. In the case of Norway spruce grafts, treatments during the shoot growth period (with giberellic acid alone and in combination with heat) have been efficient in promoting female flowering (Johnsen et al. 1994). Heat treatment alone will induce male flowering. Of mechanical flower stimulation techniques attempted in Norway spruce seed orchards, only thinning is useful on a larger scale (Schneck et al. 1995). The problem of shortening the juvenile phase and obtaining regular flowering at an early age remains unsolved (Chalupka 1991).

### Vegetative propagation

Norway spruce has for decades been propagated by grafting. Scions to be grafted are taken from the crown of mature trees and grafted onto a rootstock, which is a young spruce seedling. This technique is being used to establish clonal seed orchards and clonal archives.

Vegetative propagation with rooted cuttings is easily achieved with young spruce seedlings and can be applied on a large scale (Kleinschmit et al. 1973). The propagation can be made either in early spring before bud flushing, or after shoot growth terminates at the end of the summer. Both the rooting capacity and the growth form of the cutting depend on the age of the cutting donor, but they can be improved in a proper rooting environment. A large genetic variation has been observed in rooting capacity and subsequent growth habit of the cutting (Johnsen and Skrøppa 1992). Several systems of propagation have been developed in order to keep the plant material at a juvenile stage (Roulund 1981, Dekker-Robertson and Kleinschmit 1991). Clonal tests with rooted cuttings have provided valuable information for Norway spruce genetics research, in addition to providing clonal material with high genetic value intended for commercial use (e.g. van de Sype 1989, Kleinschmit and Svolba 1991, Isik et al. 1995).

Cell and tissue culture techniques for micropropagation have recently been developed for conifers. The most promising method for Norway spruce appears to be somatic embryogenesis, obtained for the first time by Hakman et al. (1985). Somatic cells are stimulated to develop into somatic embryos,

somewhat analogous to that of a zygotic embryo. The somatic embryo can be stimulated to mature and develop into a plant which will be of the same genotype as the zygotic embryo used for induction of this embryogenic cell line (Hakman 1993, von Arnold et al. 1995, von Arnold 1996, Egersdotter and von Arnold 1998). However, in *P. abies* somatic embryogenesis has also been initiated from explants other than zygotic embryos (Wescott 1994, Ruaud 1993). The somatic embryos can be propagated in unlimited numbers on a large scale and can be formed as artificial seeds. The method works only for a limited number of genotypes and requires controlling plant quality. Therefore, further developments are needed before somatic embryogenesis can be used for practical forestry purposes (Mo 1993). Norway spruce also belongs to the few spruce species with advanced *in vitro* regeneration, and thus could have possibilities for genetic transformation. There has recently been a breakthrough in production of stably transformed Norway spruce, based on *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* mediated transformation (Wenck et al. 1997) and on biolistic transformation (Walter et al. 1997). Also, genetic transformation of Norway spruce pollen and the use of transformed pollen in controlled pollinations is in progress (Häggman et al. 1997).

# **Reproductive materials used**

The regeneration of Norway spruce forests is based on both natural regeneration and planting, with an emphasis in many countries on natural regeneration where that is a feasible method. The largest proportion of Norway spruce seeds being used world-wide are collected in natural or planted stands. Each seed lot be identified by the geographic origin of the stand. In several countries it is required that the seed stand be selected for superior performance (EEC 1966, Muhs 1986). The relative amounts of stand and seed orchard seed being used vary considerably between countries, and between regions within countries. Clonal forestry based on rooted cuttings, which was initiated to some extent in the 1970s in Germany and Sweden, occurs at present only on a small scale.

In the Nordic countries, stand seed accounts for the largest proportion of seed used. The percentages of stand seed used in 1994 were: 89% (Denmark), 84% (Sweden), 81% (Norway) and 80% (Finland) (personal communication Bjerne Ditlefsen, Lennart Ackzell, Gunnar Haug, Hannu Kukkonen). The percentage from seed orchards varied between 10 and 20%. Sweden is the greatest importer of spruce seed, 35% of which is stand seed. Rooted cuttings account for less than 1% of the total number of Norway spruce plants.

#### **Provenance transfers**

The first provenance transfers were more or less random and unrecorded, with the result that in large areas of central Europe and southern Scandinavia most spruce stands are of unknown and mixed origins. Subsequently, provenance trials have provided information about the effects of transferring provenances from different parts of the range of the species and have identified provenance areas which generally have both a high adaptability potential and high growth capacity. Examples are provenances from southern Poland and Romania, which have been planted with success in several countries (Lacaze 1969, Krutszch 1992, van de Sype 1998). Some other provenances present a low adaptation potential and exhibit huge variations in performance for survival rate and growth ability according to trial location (e.g. van de Sype 1998).

Provenance transfers have been used deliberately in several cases where materials with specific adaptive properties were sought. An example is the transfer of late-flushing Norway spruce provenances from Byelorussia and the Baltic countries to sites exposed to late spring frosts in southern Sweden. These provenance transfers have reduced frost damage and improved growth (Werner et al. 1991, Werner and

Danell 1993). In other cases, however, maladaptation has occurred, particularly after transfers of provenances from a warm to a colder climate. In south-eastern Norway, spruce provenances from Austria and southern Germany were extensively planted during a 20-year period starting in the 1950s. A survey of 79 planted stands of central European origin and 21 of local origin, all at the age of 27 years, was recently made in Østfold County, Norway (Skrøppa et al. 1993). In the stands of local origin, 30% of trees were classified as having saw timber qualities, while only 7% of those in the central European stands obtained the same quality classification. This provenance transfer generally had a negative effect on timber quality and a small positive effect on volume production, even if a few of the stands planted with southern provenances had both high volume production and good stem quality. It is not known to what extent the pollen cloud from these stands may cause reduced fitness in offspring from the seed in neighbouring stands of local origin.

### **Conservation of Norway spruce genetic resources**

In many countries the combination of natural regeneration and planting of materials with a broad genetic diversity is the basis for conservation of genetic resources of Norway spruce. In addition, several specific conservation measures are taken. *In situ* activities include national parks, nature reserves and specific conservation or gene reserve forests. The grafted clone banks and seed orchards and provenance and progeny tests constitute the *ex situ* gene conservation, together with long-term seed storage. Cooperation at the European level is achieved through the recently established European Forest Genetic Resources Programme (EUFORGEN). Norway spruce is one of the species for which a co-operative network has been formed (Turok et al. 1995, Turok and Koski 1997, Koski et al. 1997).

# Section III - Centres of Origin and Immigration History

# Natural distribution and origin

The natural distribution of *P. abies* can, according to Schmidt-Vogt (1977), be divided into three areas: the central and south-eastern European, north-eastern European and Siberian spruce areas. The first covers mainly mountainous and sub-alpine regions and is separated from the second by a spruceless area in Poland. The north-eastern European area includes the Baltic, Nordic and Russian spruce. The Siberian area covers all spruce east of the Urals.

The total natural distribution of *P. abies* covers 31 degrees of latitude from the Balkan Peninsula (latitude  $41^{\circ}27'N$ ) to its northernmost extension near the Chatanga River, Siberia (latitude  $72^{\circ}15'N$ ). Longitudinal range is from  $5^{\circ}27'E$  in the French Alps to  $154^{\circ}E$  at the Sea of Okhotsk in Eastern Siberia. The vertical distribution is from sea level to altitudes above 2 300 m in the Italian Alps. Outside this area the species has been widely planted, particularly in central Europe (Ellenberg 1988) and in Scandinavia.

It is thought likely that *P. abies* had its prehistoric origin in east Asia, from which it migrated to Europe through Siberia and the Urals (Schmidt-Vogt 1977). During the last Ice Age, the species is assumed to have survived in refugia in four European regions: north-central Russia, the Carpathians and Transylvanian Alps, the Dinaric Alps and the Apennine peninsula. From these refugia, *P. abies* migrated to its present natural areas. The central and south-eastern European spruce originate from the last three refugia, while the north-eastern European spruce migrated from Russia.

In central Europe, *P. abies* could probably be found only in two small areas in the present Czech Republic about 11,500 BC (Vancura 1995). It migrated from the Beskids over the Sudeten to the Ore Mountains in Germany, which were reached about 6500 BC. Spruce established in the Harz Mountains about 4000 BC, while the Black Forest in south-western Germany was reached about 1500 BC. In Switzerland, Norway spruce established in the eastern and south-eastern part of the country about 8000 years ago and expanded to the valleys of the Alps within 3500 years (Bonfils and Sperisen 1997). The expansion was much slower North of the Alps.

The migration of Norway spruce to Fennoscandia took place from the Russian refugium. It advanced through the forest area at the present border between Russia and Finland and passed through Finland and northern Sweden into Norway in the period 3500-500 BC (Moe 1970, Schmidt-Vogt 1977, Hafsten 1991, 1992a, b). The advance was quite rapid; it has been estimated at an average speed of 9 km every ten years (Moe 1970).

# Section IV - Reproductive Biology

# **Sexual reproduction**

*P. abies* is monoecious, having both male and female flowers on the same individuals but on separate organs. The male flowers are in most cases located at the base of the preceding year's shoot, while the female strobili are at the tip of the shoot, directed upwards. The reproductive buds are initiated during the growth season the year before.

Male meiosis and pollen development occur after the winter dormancy in late winter or early spring and are regulated by the temperature conditions (Luomajoki 1993). A male flower may contain as many as 600 000 pollen grains, which are released at anthesis and dispersed by wind.

Female meiosis usually starts before the female strobili become receptive (Sarvas 1968) and occurs close to or during the period of pollination. Pollen grains are accommodated in a pollen chamber which has a limited volume and, on average, contains three to five pollen grains. They germinate and pollen tubes grow towards the female gametophyte (egg cell) in the ovule, where fusion of the male and female gametes takes place. Under natural conditions this normally occurs five to six weeks after pollination. The fertilised egg develops rapidly into a seed. Several egg cells may be fertilised in each ovule, but only one will develop into a seed. Empty seeds may result from lack of pollination or from abortion.

Climatic conditions play an important role during several stages of the reproductive process. High temperature during the growth season is one of the main factors favouring floral initiation and the development of reproductive buds which will flower the next spring. Dry conditions and moderate to high temperatures during the flowering period the following year are necessary in order to obtain sufficient pollination. Seed development and maturation require high accumulated temperature sums during the summer and early autumn. Such specific weather patterns during two successive years occur rather seldom, particularly far north and at high latitude regions, which may explain why seed crops are both rare and irregular in these areas.

# Mating system and gene flow

The mating system of Norway spruce falls into the mixed mating category. That is, the largest part of the seeds are produced through cross-fertilisation and the rest through self-fertilisation. Cross-fertilisations are both between trees that are close together in a stand, and among distant individuals in the same or nearby stands.

Spruce pollen is able to move over long distances. Andersson (1955) found that the amount of pollen at 2 500 m distance was 47% of the amount at the edge of the forest in one stand, and 15% in another stand. In two Norway spruce stands in Finland, Koski (1970) estimated the background

pollination to be approximately 60% of the total pollen catch. Lindgren et al. (1991) reported results from studies of the dispersion of Norway spruce pollen artificially released in seed orchards outside the local pollen shedding season. These results showed a rapid drop-off in the pollen dispersion curve over distance from the source, with the largest amount of pollen being deposited less than 50 meters from the pollen source. However, large variation patterns most likely due to wind turbulence were found between pollen catches on individual days, indicating that a curve showing a smooth movement in the wind direction is not a good model for individual pollen dispersion events (Lindgren et al. 1991).

Both local and long-range pollen movements will determine the natural pollination patterns and actual gene flow of Norway spruce. On average, most pollinations will be with local pollen or pollen from nearby populations (Koski 1970), with exceptions in some years. In an allozyme marker genetic study in an experimental Norway spruce plantation, Xie and Knowles (1994) estimated the proportion of ovules fertilised with own pollen, pollen from trees within the plantation and that from trees outside the plantation to be 0.09, 0.75 and 0.16, respectively. The proportions varied considerably among parent trees. Wind-pollinated forest trees are known to have a high number of migrants per generation compared to other plant species (Govindaraju 1988, 1989). No good estimates of migration rates are available for Norway spruce, but Koski (1970) and Finkelday (1995) both concluded that the gene flow between nearby populations by means of pollen dispersal is effective and may play an essential role in the population genetics structure of Norway spruce.

The actual rate of self-fertilisations in natural populations may vary considerably between trees. It was found by Müller (1977) to vary between 7 and 18% in a study of five trees. Koski (1973) estimated the mean proportion of self-fertilisations at 10%, but concluded that only 1% of the filled seeds originate from self-fertilisations.

# **Inbreeding depression**

Most spruce trees will produce some filled seed after self-pollinations, but the seed yield is much reduced (Skrøppa and Tho 1990). The main reason for this is embryo abortions caused by lethal or deleterious genes that become harmful when they occur as recessive homozygotes in the selfed individuals (Koski 1971). Inbred spruce trees generally have reduced fitness compared to their outbred relatives. They have lower survival in the field, their growing season is shorter, and they grow more slowly (Langlet 1940, Eriksson et al. 1973, Skrøppa 1996). The inbreeding depression varies both among populations and among individuals within the same population (Skrøppa 1996). For a trait such as height growth at age ten years, it may vary in the range of 10 to 50% among selfed offspring of trees from the same population.

# The seed crop

Norway spruce trees undergo a rather long juvenile period, during which they will not flower and set seeds. In the open stand, sexual maturity will generally be reached after 20-30 years, while it occurs later in the closed stand (Schmidt-Vogt 1978). However, a substantial flowering and seed set may occur considerably earlier than 20 years from planting (Skrøppa, unpublished) if the temperature conditions are favourable for floral induction. In exceptional years, female flowering has been observed on eight- to ten-year-old and male flowering on twelve- to 15-year-old Norway spruce trees.

Under central European conditions, Norway spruce will flower several times in a decade (Schmidt-Vogt 1978). In the boreal forest, cone harvests occur less frequently and at irregular intervals. There were no cone crops in the lowlands of southern Norway between 1976 and 1983. Since then,

however, substantial flowering and seed crops have occurred in 1983, 1987, 1989, 1993 and 1995. In northern Norway, successful seed harvests have been obtained only three times during the last 40 years (1958, 1970 and 1981).

In central European seed orchards, flowering has occurred less frequently than was expected (Kleinschmit 1993).

# Natural regeneration

The Norway spruce seeds are dispersed mainly by wind and partly by birds and animals (Sokolov et al. 1977). Most seeds will be dispersed close to the mother tree, but some may also be dispersed over larger distances.

Natural regeneration also very much depends on the species composition of the bottom and field layer. The most productive spruce forest appears to be the most problematic for natural regeneration, for example in "spruce forest with tall herbs" (*Melico-Piceetum aconitetosum*) and "spruce forest with tall ferns" (*Eu-Piceetum athyrietosum*). The optimal habitat for natural regeneration is the "spruce forest with small ferns" (*Eu-Piceetum dryopteridetosum*). Regeneration in our most common and widespread spruce community, "spruce forest with bilberry" (*Eu-Piceetum myrtilletosum*), is greatly hampered by a thick raw humus layer, especially at higher altitudes (Mork 1944, 1945, 1968).

The Norway spruce seedlings are very shade-tolerant and can survive for decades under a closed canopy (Siren 1955). They grow slowly during the first years, and the height growth increases after five to ten years (Sokolov et al. 1977, Nikolov and Helmisaari 1992). *P. abies* is often associated with grey alder (*Alnus incana*) on river plains in the boreal zone and may tolerate occasional flooding (Sokolov et al. 1977).

## **Dynamics of regeneration**

Boreal forests undisturbed by human activity have dynamic properties, with complex succession stages which influence habitats and create possibilities for regeneration. The most important natural disturbance factors are fire, storms, and pathogens such as bark beetles (Tømmerås 1994). The fire tolerance of *P. abies* is very poor (Drakenberg 1981). Mainly due to its shallow root system, spruce is intolerant to windthrow (Sokolov et al. 1977). Storms can blow down many trees, particularly in wind-exposed areas, where occasionally almost all the trees in a stand may blow down. Bark beetles (*Ips typographus*) can from time to time become a serious pest and kill trees (Christiansen and Bakke 1988). Together with gaps created by the death of individual old trees, these disturbances open up the canopy and lay the foundation for regeneration.

# Vegetative reproduction in nature

Under certain conditions, Norway spruce will naturally reproduce vegetatively through the lowest branches, which may come into contact with the soil and differentiate roots and new shoots (layering). This occurs particularly in alpine areas, where the climatic conditions prohibit sexual reproduction, and is therefore important for species distribution (Skoklefald 1993). Examples of such vegetative reproduction can be seen above the timberline where scattered clonal groups occur.

# Section V - Crosses

# Crossability with other species

Crossability of spruce species can be judged both from introgressive hybridisation and from attempted controlled hybridisation. The only known natural hybrids involving Norway spruce are *P. abies* var. *obovata* with *P. jezoensis* and *P. koraiensis* (Schmidt-Vogt 1977) in eastern Asia. Successful artificial hybridisations are reported with eight other spruce species (*P. asperata, P. glauca, P. mariana, P. montigena, P. omorica, P. orientalis, P. rubens* and *P. sitchensis*) (Kleinschmit 1979). Rather few of the potential hybrid crossing combinations have been attempted.

# Interprovenance hybridisation

No crossing barriers are present between spruce trees from different provenances. Provenance hybrids are therefore produced naturally in regions with both indigenous populations and introduced provenances or cultivars. The extent and implications of these hybridisations depend on many factors, such as the characteristics of the provenances discussed in section VI.

Experimental results with inter- and intraprovenance crosses have demonstrated that the hybrids are intermediate between the two parents for most traits (e.g. Ekberg et al. 1982, 1991, Kaya and Lindgren 1992). Hybrid vigour therefore does not appear to be present to any large extent.

# **Section VI - Genetic Variability**

The number of chromosomes of Norway spruce is 2n = 24 (Schmidt-Vogt 1977 and references cited therein). Tetraploidy has occasionally been observed in Swedish and German provenances (Kiellander 1950) and has also been induced by colchicine treatments (Johnsson 1975). Trees with irregular chromosome numbers appear in general to have reduced fitness.

The genetic variability of Norway spruce has been studied using a large number of methods and at different genetic levels. More than 100 years ago, experiments replicated at several locations with seed lots from different origins (provenances) were carried out in Austria, Germany and Switzerland (Langlet 1971). In these first genecological experiments, traits such as height increment, needle morphology, growth habit, time of growth initiation and frost damage were studied. Later, both national and international provenance experiments were established, some of these organised by the International Union of Forest Research Organisations (IUFRO), and often including large numbers of provenances planted on multiple test sites in several countries (Krutzsch 1992). The traits studied are related, in particular, to forestry cultivation of Norway spruce. They characterise climatic adaptation, growth potential and quality. They are typically quantitative, having a continuous phenotypic distribution, and are strongly influenced by the environment. The same type of traits have been measured in numerous experiments with offspring from both natural and artificial populations, in most cases established with the intention of testing breeding materials. The field trials have been supplemented by tests under more controlled conditions, in which variability in specific physiological traits has been studied. Since biochemical markers became available, several population genetics studies have characterised the intraand interpopulation variation and genetic structure of the species (e.g. Lagercrantz and Ryman 1990, Müller-Starck et al. 1992, Konnert and Maurer 1995). Recently, molecular DNA marker techniques have been developed for Norway spruce (Bucci and Menozzi 1993, Binelli and Bucci 1994).

# **Overall variability**

Large genetic variability exists within the extensive range of the natural distribution of Norway spruce. The most pronounced adaptive patterns relate to populations' responses to climatic conditions. Across the European range of the species these patterns of variability can often be related to latitude and altitude of origin, and with degree of continentality, and will sometimes vary clinally. In central Europe, however, differences among populations from the same geographic region are in many cases large and reflect several generations of Norway spruce cultivation. This fact often blurs patterns of variability can of growth in the spring and termination of growth and development of frost hardiness in late summer, show the most pronounced provenance variability (Langlet 1960, Krutzsch 1975, Dormling 1973, Beuker 1994, Beuker et al. 1998). However, observations of these and of growth performance traits are made in common garden field tests comparing provenances that are transferred unequal distances. Such provenance transfers may affect provenances differently. Provenance differences must therefore always be interpreted relative to the planting site conditions.

Populations with an early growth start, often expressed as bud burst or bud flushing, originate from high latitudes in northern Scandinavia, Finland and Siberia and from high altitudes in the central European Alps (Langlet 1960, Krutzsch 1975, Holzer 1993, Beuker 1994). The eastern and more continental provenances generally have a late growth start, and the latest flushing populations come from Byelorussia, north-eastern Poland and the interior of the Baltic Republics. The variation in bud flushing and initiation of shoot growth of Norway spruce provenances are assumed to be regulated both by differential responses to accumulated temperature sums in the spring and by conditions during acclimation the proceeding year (Heide 1974b, Schmidt-Vogt 1977, Dormling 1982).

Photoperiod is the environmental factor that initiates the cessation of growth and development of frost hardiness (Dormling 1973), but with some modifications caused by temperature (Heide 1974a). Under controlled growing conditions in growth chambers, seedlings of provenances from the northernmost latitudes will respond with a terminal bud set at a night length of two to three hours, compared to eight to nine hours of darkness for south-western European origins (Dormling 1973). The northern Scandinavian and Finnish provenances, and those from high altitudes in the Alps, have the earliest cessation of shoot growth (Skrøppa and Magnussen 1993). The latest growth cessation occurs in provenances from southern Poland and the eastern Carpathians.

At the provenance level, strong relationships are generally present between traits that characterise the timing and duration of the growth period, the lignification of the annual ring, and the development of autumn frost hardiness (Skrøppa and Magnussen 1993, Ekberg et al. 1994). These traits are components of an annual sequence of developmental events which describe the inherent annual rhythm of trees of the same provenance (Sarvas 1972, Skrøppa and Magnussen 1993).

Resistance to late spring frost is closely related to the time of growth start; the late flushing provenances from eastern Europe suffer less damage than native Nordic provenances during spring frost events in Scandinavia (Werner et al. 1991). A similar but somewhat weaker relationship is present between the timing of growth cessation and resistance to autumn frost. Provenances with early termination growth will normally enter dormancy (develop frost hardiness) earlier than those extending their growth period late in the summer, and thus be less damaged by early autumn frosts. In the Alps, high altitude provenances will be more resistant to early autumn frosts than those of lowland origins (Holzer 1993).

The growth capacity of different provenances is closely related to the duration of their growth period (Holzer 1993, Skrøppa and Magnussen 1993). Northern provenances, or those from high altitudes that are adapted to a short growth season, will therefore have a poorer growth potential than those adapted to a longer season. Two provenance regions with particularly high growth potential have been identified (Schmidt-Vogt 1978). One covers parts of the post-glacial advance of spruce from the Russian refugium, including the Baltic Republics, north-eastern Poland and northern parts of Byelorussia. The other region covers the eastern Carpathian and Bihor Mountains and parts of the Beskids.

Wood quality traits, such as basic wood density and its determining components, have been shown to vary considerably among different provenances (Mergen et al. 1964, Worrall 1970, Schmidt-Vogt 1986). They are also influenced by the extent of provenance transfer. Strong relationships exist between these traits and annual growth rhythm characteristics.

Provenance variation has been shown for a number of other traits, such as nutrient demands, respiration activity and shade tolerance (Schmidt-Vogt 1977). Provenance differences are present in crown form, related to snow and ice break resistance, with the resistance increasing according to altitude (Holzer 1964, Schmidt-Vogt 1977).

Enzyme genetic marker studies reveal a great genetic variability within Norway spruce populations (Müller-Starck et al. 1992, Goncharenko et al. 1995), and also in populations close to the climatic margin of the species (Tigerstedt 1973, 1979). In the most comprehensive isozyme study on Norway spruce (Lagercrantz and Ryman 1990), only 5% of the total genetic diversity was explained by differences among provenances. Some differentiation occurs among populations derived from different glacial refugia and appear to reflect their post-glacial evolutionary history (Lagercrantz and Ryman 1990). Populations from the same region show little genetic differentiation (Bergmann 1973, Lundkvist and Rudin 1977, Lundkvist 1979, Konnert and Franke 1991). Central European provenances appear to have reduced genetic diversity, expressed by a reduced level of average heterozygosity compared to those from eastern Europe and Scandinavia (Lagercrantz and Ryman 1990, Goncharenko et al. 1995).

Patterns of provenance variation show geographic variability on a large scale. However, genetic variation may be present between offspring from populations within the same provenance, and this variation is often larger than that between provenances. Dietrichson (1973) sampled three populations from the same altitude (620-750 m) in each of five provenances, covering an area of 200 km north-south and 250 km west-east in southern Norway. Measurements were made of heights at two and four years, growth initiation and cessation, and lignification of the annual ring. Several traits showed a larger variation among populations within a provenance than among provenances. In studies of clones sampled from several populations from the same provenance region and from different provenances, variation among clones has been demonstrated for a large number of traits (Sauer et al. 1973, Sauer-Stegmann et al. 1978, Kleinschmit et al. 1981, 1981).

### Variability within populations

The large within-population genetic variation demonstrated by genetic markers has been confirmed in studies of quantitative traits. Genetic variability has been found within all natural Norway spruce populations studied, as well as for traits that show clinal variation at the provenance level (Dietrichson 1971, 1973, Eriksson 1982, Skrøppa 1982a, Ekberg et al. 1985, 1991). Traits that show such variation characterise germination, early and later height and diameter growth, the timing and duration of the shoot growth period, autumn frost hardiness, survival in the field, and branch, crown form, stem and wood quality (Schmidt-Vogt 1977, Skrøppa 1991, 1993, Hylen 1997). The range of variation may sometimes be as large as that found between geographically distant provenances.

#### **Resistance to fungi and insects**

Studies investigating Norway spruce's resistance to root rot (*Heterobasidion annosum*) have been carried out at both the provenance and clonal level (Dimitri and Kliefoth 1980). Treschow (1958) found no variation in growth of *H. annosum* among trees of different provenances. In an inoculation experiment with *H. annosum* on 98 Norway spruce clones, differences among clones were found in lesion length and fungal growth in sapwood (Swedjemark and Stenlid 1996). This indicates the presence of genetic variation among individual clones in degree of resistance to the fungus, and indicates that progress in resistance can be achieved through selection. Similar variation among clones has been found in resistance to bark beetle fungus infection (*Ceratocystis polonica*) (Christiansen and Berryman 1995, Brignolas et al. 1995).

Differences have been demonstrated among provenances in respect to infestation by spruce aphids (*Adelges* ssp.) (Balut and Sabor 1993), and also among families and clones from the same

population (Skrøppa, unpublished). Little information is available on genetic variation in resistance to attacks by other insect species.

# Factors influencing the genetic variability

The great genetic variability of the Norway spruce forests is influenced by a large number of factors: ancient origin and immigration history, natural selection, an extensive gene flow caused by pollen dispersal, genetic drift due to small population size, and human activities.

Different factors may cause specific variation patterns to be present in parts of the range of the species. As an example, in some areas the existence of frost pockets or different slopes and exposure aspects may have resulted in selection of different annual growth rhythms. Patterns of spacial differentiation may therefore be the result of complex interactions of gene flow and selection (Finkelday 1995, Krutovskii and Bergmann 1995). In central Europe the species has been cultivated for more than 300 years, partly with seed material transferred from other regions. Differences in performance between provenances from the same region therefore may not exclusively express adaptational differences. Recent experimental results indicate that phenotypic provenance variation in traits characterising climatic adaptation is not only regulated by classical (Mendelian) gene frequency differences, but also by other mechanisms (e.g. gene regulation). These mechanisms appear to be triggered by environmental influences during the generative reproductive process (Skrøppa and Johnsen 1994, Johnsen and Skrøppa 1996, Johnsen et al. 1995, 1996).

# **Section VII - Ecology**

### Synecology and associated species

Spruce forests are found in many different habitats. They usually belong to the acidophilous order *Vaccinio-Piceetalia* and to a lesser extent to the *Fagetalia* (Ellenberg 1988, Fremstad 1997).

Forests of *P. abies* play a dominating role in the boreal zone in Fennoscandia and northern Russia. They belong to three associations, according to Kielland-Lund (1981, 1994):

- *Eu-Piceetum* (EP). This is the most common forest association. EP is the typical climax community on nutrient poor to medium rich, podzolic soil types. EP is subdivided into sub-associations, e.g. *myrtilletosum* (= "spruce forest with bilberry"), *dryopteridetosum* (= "spruce forest with small ferns") and *athyrietosum* (= "spruce forest with tall ferns"), with increasing soil richness and soil humidity (Dahl et al. 1986, Kielland-Lund 1994).
- *Melico-Piceetum* (MP). According to Kielland-Lund (1994), MP (= "spruce forest with low herbs") occurs in warmer localities and on more calcareous soils than *Eu-Piceetum*, mainly in the boreonemoral and south boreal zones. MP has three main sub-associations: *pinetosum* (= "calcareous low-herb woodland") on dry limestone soils, *typicum* (= "spruce forest with low herbs") and *aconitetosum* (= "spruce forest with tall herbs"). Most *P. abies* forests have a trivial vascular plant flora, except *Melico-Piceetum pinetosum*, which houses, among others, rare and in some areas threatened orchids, e.g. *Ophrys insectifera* and *Cypripedium calceolus*.
- Kielland-Lund (1981, 1994) has described the association *Chamaemoro-Piceetum* on clay or thin organic soils. This community is called "spruce swamp forest".

Norway spruce forest communities in the superhumid parts of central Norway differ from those described (Kielland-Lund 1981, 1994) in having frequent oceanic species: in the field layer, e.g. *Blechnum spicant* and *Cornus suecica*; and in the bottom layer, the sub-oceanic bryophytes *Plagiothecium undulatum* and *Rhytidiadelphus loreus*.

The most common types of central European spruce forest are the montane and the sub-alpine. Spruce also occurs in wide areas in lowlands with mixed woodland communities. It can be dominant at both the sub-montane and planar levels where there is low competition, e.g. around the edges of raised bogs, in acid marshy ground and on waterlogged soils. Four montane and sub-alpine *Vaccinio-Piceetalia* associations are described:

• *Piceetum montanum* (PM). According to Ellenberg (1988), PM occurs in the montane zone of the valleys of the Alps. PM has two main sub-associations: *galietosum* and *melicetosum* (= *Melico-Piceetum*). The slightly humid *galietosum* is found where the substrate is rich in

bases. It has many herbs, predominantly *Galium rotundifolium*. The dry montane *melicetosum* is poorer in species. This type also occurs on bedrock, which is poor in bases, and even on dry slopes with relatively base-rich and loamy soils.

- *Veronico urticifoliae-Piceetum* (VP). VP is a special association of a more productive montane spruce wood type (Ellenberg 1988). It develops on acid soil where the water supply is somewhat better than that where *Piceetum montanum melicetosum* woods are found.
- *Piceetum subalpinum* (PS). In contrast to the montane spruce woods, the sub-alpine woods are as a rule poorer in species (Ellenberg 1988). These are more constant and may appear in large numbers, e.g. *Oxalis acetosella, Vaccinium myrtillus, V. vitis-idaea, Calamagrostis villosa* and *Hylocomium splendens*. The spruce treees are mostly stunted because of severe winters. The type is common in central European highlands.
- *Sphagno-Piceetum* (SP) or *Piceetum subalpinum sphagnetosum*. This type, which has plants associated with wet conditions such as the genus *Sphagnum*, is found on waterlogged soils in all acidophilous spruce woods, especially in the sub-alpine region. It is frequent in high precipitation areas along the perimeter of the Alps.

The symbiotic relationship between the roots of Norway spruce and mycorrhiza fungi is important for spruce forest ecosystems. The importance specifically concerns Norway spruce in dry habitats, in habitats where soil moisture is variable, or generally in habitats with marginal growing conditions. In optimal growing conditions for Norway spruce, mycorrhizae are not so well developed. In dry habitats, mycorrhizae facilitate water uptake. Hundreds of species of mycorrhizae are described on Norway spruce.

# Norway spruce as a key species

Norway spruce's importance for a very large number of species is due to its ability to change the soil, and to create essential structures owing to the size of individuals and their distribution in large continuous forests, as well as its dominance in creating dynamics in the landscape. In addition, Norway spruce as growing tree and decaying wood provides "home and food" for hundreds of species. In Fennoscandia and northern Russia, it dominates the forest landscape as the region's key species. In Norway, an estimated 20 000 species (~ half the number of species in the country) are associated with forests, a major part to spruce forests. Almost half the threatened species in Norway, Sweden and Finland (898, 695 and 717, respectively) live in forests (data from Nord 1994).

# **Special lichens**

The spruce forest (called "boreal rain forest" or "coastal rain forest") of the west central part of Norway is very rich in mosses, fungi and lichens. The latter group includes 40-50 species belonging to the so-called "Trøndelag element". The lichen species either have their only known occurrence in Europe in this forest type, or have their main occurrence here (Holien 1996). A good indicator group for the occurrence of rare epiphytic lichens in the coastal rain forest is the *Lobarion* community, for which *Lobaria pulmonaria* is a characteristic species. In the alliance *Lobarion*, the epiphytes *Pseudocyphellaria crocata* and *Ramalina thrausta* are considered among the vulnerable Red List species of the coastal rain forest, whereas *Pannaria ahlneri* and "trønderlav" (*Erioderma pedicellatum*) are highly endangered.

"Trønderlav" was classified as extinct in Europe until the summer of 1994, when it was found in two extremely small populations.

### **Special bryophytes**

Norway spruce forests have a wide range of microclimatic and edaphic niches for bryophytes. Logs of Norway spruce at various stages of decay are habitats for many more or less specialised and very often rare communities and species of liverwort. Liverwort's occurrence on Norway spruce logs depends mainly on two factors: (i) the stage of decay (or length of time since the tree was felled) and (ii) the size of the log. Different species have different preferences. Larger logs have more species and larger populations. Typical Red List species living on decaying logs are *Lophozia ascendens* and *Calypogeia suecica*. The former is a vulnerable species with a preference for large young logs, while the latter prefers large old (heavily decayed) ones. Both occur mainly in the superhumid spruce forest of central Norway.

# Interaction between planted Norway spruce forests and other forest types

The general consequences of artificial introduction of *P. abies* into deciduous forests are well known, especially from western Norway and central Europe (Ellenberg 1988, Fylkesmannen i Rogaland 1993). The high shade tolerance of *P. abies* gives it a competitive advantage over nearly all deciduous species, and over ground flora if the temperature regimes are favourable for Norway spruce. The microclimate becomes more humid and oceanic after introduction of *P. abies*. In addition, the humus becomes rawer and more acid. Changes in microclimatic and edaphic conditions result in sparse ground flora and fauna (Børset 1985). Under natural conditions there is a balanced dynamic in the competition between *P. abies* and trees and communities. However, when spruce stands are introduced outside their natural range of occurrence, the species can show unpredictable invasiveness.

## Elements of boreal spruce forest ecosystems

Due to Norway spruce's dominant role in Fennoscandia and northern Russia, there should be a strong focus on the significance of the structure and dynamics of boreal spruce forests (Hansson 1992), especially in these areas.

# **Tree species**

Different tree species are normally dominant at different succession stages. There are exceptions, however, in a few vegetation types in the boreal zone where the same tree species is both the pioneer and climax species. Spruce forests go through a deciduous stage (mainly birch, rowen, aspen, *Salix* sp. and alder in Fennoscandia) as the first step before the spruce becomes dominant. The biodiversity of the spruce forest depends on its succession stage (reviewed in Tømmerås 1994).

# **Deciduous trees in conifer forests**

Deciduous trees lose their dominance in spruce forests after the pioneer period, but some of these trees are always part of the forest stand. The richer the vegetation type, the more deciduous trees are present. Old deciduous trees and large dead ones are very important for numerous lichens, insects and birds.

# **Period of rotation**

Plant and animal species adapt to many niches, in a complicated pattern, during the forest's successive stages. Species that require very specific conditions may be dependent on the presence of burned trees, dead wood, small seedlings, or old but living trees. The effects of disturbances in the rotation cycle on species diversity are not well known (Hansson 1992).

## Layers

From an ecological point of view, the existence of more than one vertical layer in forests is a key factor in determining an area's biodiversity. This layer structure is most dominant late in the pioneer and later stages.

# **Old trees**

Spruce in natural forests may reach an age of 200-300 years. Usually some individuals become old and are of great size. These trees are habitats for many forms of life, such as woodpeckers, lichens, bryophytes and insects.

# **Dead trees**

Dead wood results from various causes, including storm felling, fire, pathogens and normal ageing. This leads to a wide spectrum of types of dead wood being found in a spruce forest. Over a thousand plant and animal species take part in the process of decomposing dead spruce; a large proportion are specialists at a particular stage. It is estimated that more than 700 Norwegian beetle species are dependent on the dead wood of boreal forest tree species (Tømmerås, unpubl).

#### Continuity

Some areas in boreal forests are free from natural disturbances such as fire and storm felling. These forest areas can cover 20-40% of a forest landscape, and are often widespread on humid soil and in steep valley areas. Many cryptogams and invertebrates are dependent on continuous forest structure.

# Importance of structural conditions and dynamic processes for plants and animals

The natural dynamics of spruce forests, in which a special mosaic landscape changes over time, leave some parts very little affected by disturbances (continuous forest) and other parts dominated by, for example, fires once every 100 years. Plant and animal communities adapt to these conditions. Many species are dependent on the stable structural conditions of a continuous forest, while others need disturbances such as fire (e.g. the threatened ortolan bunting *Emberiza hortulane* L., many insects and fungi) or storm felling. Finally, many species are dependent on the mosaic combination at the landscape level. Among these are the three species of forest hens: black grouse (*Tetrao tetrix* L.), willow grouse (*Lagopus lagopus* L.) and hazel grouse (*Bonasa bonasia* L.).

# **Section VIII - References**

Andersson, E. 1955. Pollenverbreitung und Abstandsisolierung von Forstsamenplantagen. - Z. Forstgenet. und Forstpflanzenz. 4: 150-152.

Balut, S. and Sabor, J. 1993. Current state of investigation in the international provenance test of Norwau spruce - IUFRO 1964/68 in Krynica. - In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 6-33.

Bergmann, F. 1973. Genetische Untersuchungen bei *Picea abies* mit Hilfe der Isoenzym-Identifisierung. III. Geographische Variation an 2 Esterase- und 2 Leucin-aminopeptidase-loci in der Schwedischen Fichtenpopulation. - Silvae Genetica 22: 63-66.

Beuker, E. 1994. Adaptation to climatic changes of the timing of bud burst in populations of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. - Tree Physiol. 14: 961-97.

Beuker, E., Valtonen, E. and Repo, T. 1998. Seasonal variation in the frost hardiness of Scots pine and Norway spruce in old provenance experiments. - Forest Ecology and Management. (In press.)

Binelli, G. and Bucci, G. 1994. A genetic linkage map of *Picea abies* Karst, based on RAPD markers, as a tool in population genetics. - Theor. Appl. Genet. 88: 282-288.

Birot, Y. 1982. Breeding strategies with Norway spruce in France with particular reference to the criteria and methods of selection. - In: Proceedings of the IUFRO Joint Meeting of Working Parties on Genetics about Breeding Strategies including Multiclonal Varieties, Sensenstein, 10-21.

Bonfils, P. and Sperisen, C. 1997. Conservation of genetic resources of Norway spruce in Switzerland. -In: Turok, J. and Koski, V. (compilers), *Picea abies* Network. - Report of the second meeting, 5-7 September 1996, Hyytiälä, Finland, IPGRI, Rome, Italy, 52-59.

Brignolas, F., Lieutier, F., Sauvard, D., Yart, A., Drouet, A., Claudot, A.C. 1995. Changes in solublephenol content of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) phloem in response to wounding and inoculation with *Ophiostoma polonicum*. - Eur. J. For. Path. 25: 253-265.

Bucci, G. and Menozzi, P. 1993. Segregation analysis of random amplified polymorphic DNA in *Picea* abies Karst. - Mol. Ecol. 2: 227-232.

Børset, O. 1985. Skogskjøtsel. I. Skogøkologi. - Landbruksforlaget, Oslo. 494 pp.

Chalupka, W. 1991. Usefulness of hormonal stimulation in the production of genetically improved seeds. - Silva Fennica 25: 235-240.

Christiansen, E. and Bakke, A. 1988. The spruce bark beetle of Eurasia. - Pages 479-503 in Berryman, A.A. (ed.), Dynamics of forest insect populations. Pattern, Causes, Implications. Plenum Press, NY, London.

Christiansen, E. and Berryman A.A. 1995. Studies of resistance in Norway spruce to bark beetle-fungus infection. - Aktuelt fra Skogforsk 6-95: 26-27.

Dahl, E., Elven, R., Moen, A. and Skogen, A. 1986. Nasjonalatlas for Norge. Vegetasjonsregioner. - Statens Kartverk.

Danell, Ö. 1991. Survey of past, current and future Swedish forest tree breeding. - Silva Fennica 25: 241-247.

Dekker-Robertson, D.L. and Kleinschmit, J. 1991. Serial propagation in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst): Results from later propagation cycles. - Silvae Genetica 40: 202-214.

Dietrichson, J. 1971. A summary of studies on genetic variation in forest trees grown in Scandinavia with special reference to the adaptation problem. - Meddr norske SkogforVes. 29: 25-59.

Dietrichson, J. 1973. Genetic variation among trees, stands, and provenances of Norway spruce in alpine southern Norway. - IUFRO Meeting "Norway spruce provenances", Biri, Norway (unpublished), 12 pp.

Dimitri, L. and Kliefoth, R. 1980. Untersuchungen über die Widerstandsfähigkeit Verschiedener Fichtenklone gegenüber dem Fomes annosus. - In: Dimitri, L. (ed.), Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Problems of Root and Butt Rot in Conifers, Hessische Forstliche Versuchsanstalt, Hann. Münden, Germany, 85-93.

Dolgolikov, V. 1993. Norway spruce breeding in the north-west part of Russia. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 171-173.

Dormling, I. 1973. Photoperiodic control of growth and growth cessation in Norway spruce seedlings. - Symposium on Dormancy in Trees. Kornik, Poland, September 1973, 16 pp.

Dormling, I. 1982. Frost resistance during bud flushing and shoot elongation in *Picea abies*. - Silva Fennica 16: 167-177.

Drakenberg, B. 1981. Kompendium i allmän dendrologi samt barrtråds och barrvirkesegenskaper. - Umeå: SLU Inst. för skoglig ståndortslåra.

EEC. 1966. Council directives on the marketing of forest reproductive materials, 66/404/EEC.

Egertsdotter, U. and von Arnold, S. 1998. Development of somatic embryos in Norway spruce. - J. Exp. Bot. 49:155-162.

Ekberg, I., Eriksson, G. and Hadders G. 1982. Growth of intra- and inter provenance families of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. - Silvae Genetica 31: 160-167.

Ekberg, I., Eriksson, G. and Weng, X. 1985. Between- and within-population variation in growth rhythm and plant height in four *Picea abies* populations. - Studia For. Suec. 167, 14 pp.

Ekberg, I., Eriksson, G. and Nilsson, C. 1991. Consistancy of phenology and growth of intra- and interprovenance families of *Picea abies*. - Scand. J. For. Res. 6: 323-333.

Ekberg, I., Eriksson, G., Namkoong, G., Nilsson, C. and Norell, L. 1994. Genetic correlations for growth rhythm and growth capacity at ages 3-8 years in provenance hybrids of *Picea abies*. - Scand. J. For. Res. 9: 25-33.

Ellenberg, H. 1988. Vegetation Ecology of Central Europe. - Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 731 pp.

Eriksson, G. 1982. Ecological genetics of conifers in Sweden. - Silva Fennica 16: 149-156.

Eriksson, G., Schelander, B. and Åkebrand, V. 1973. Inbreeding depression in an old experimental plantation of *Picea abies*. - Heriditas 73: 185-194.

Finkelday, R. 1995. Homogeneity of pollen allele frequencies of single trees in *Picea abies* (L.) Karst Plantations. - Heredity 74 : 451-463.

Fremstad, E. 1997. Vegetasjonstyper i Norge (Vegetation types in Norway). - NINA Temahefte 12: 280 pp.

Fylkesmannen i Rogaland 1993. Skogbruk og miljøvern på Vestlandet. - Miljørapport nr 3-1993.

Gabrilavicius, R. and Pliura, A. 1993. Breeding of Norway spruce in Lithuania. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 189-192.

Giertych, M. 1993. Breeding of Norway spruce in Poland: from provenance tests to seed orchards. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 193-199.

Goncharenko, G.G., Zadeika, I.V. and Birgelis, J.J. 1995. Genetic structure, diversity and differentiation of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) in natural populations of Latvia. - Forest Ecology and Management 72: 31-38.

Govindaraju, D.R. 1988. Relationship between dispersal ability and levels of gene flow in plants. - Oikos 52: 31-35.

Govindaraju, D.R. 1989. Estimates of gene flow in forest trees. - Biological Journal of the Linneean Society 37: 345-357.

Hafsten, U. 1991. Granskogens historie i Norge under opprulling. - Blyttia 49: 171-181.

Hafsten, U. 1992a. The immigration and spread of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) in Norway. - Norsk Geogr. Tidskr. 46: 121-158.

Hafsten, U. 1992b. Granskogens innvandring og spredning i Norge. - Norsk skogbruksmuseum. Årbok Nr. 13: 9-27.

Häggman, H., Aronen, T. and Nikkanen, T. 1997. Gene transfer by particle bombardment to Norway spruce and Scots pine pollen. - Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27: 928-935.

Hakman, I. 1993. Embryology in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). An analysis of the composition of seed storage proteins and deposition of storage reserves during seed development and somatic embryogenesis. - Physiol. Plant. 87: 148-159.

Hakman, I., Fowke, L. C., von Arnold, S. and Eriksson, T. 1985. The development of somatic embryos in tissue cultures initiated from immature embryos of *Picea abies* (Norway spruce). - Plant Science 38: 53-59.

Hansson, L. (ed.) 1992. Ecological Principles of Nature Conservation. Elsevier Applied Science, London and New York.

Heide, O.M. 1974a. Growth and dormancy in Norway spruce ecotypes. I. Interaction of photoperiod and temperature. - Physiol. Plant. 30:1-12.

Heide, O.M. 1974b. Growth and dormancy in Norway spruce ecotypes. II. After-effects of photoperiod and temperature on growth and development in subsequent years. - Physiol. Plant. 31: 131-139.

Holien, H. 1996. The lichen flora on *Picea abies* in a suboceanic spruce forest area in central Norway with emphasis on the relationship to site and stand parameters - Nord. J. of Botany 17: 55-76.

Holzer, K. 1964. Die Seehöhengliederung der Fichentypen in den österreichischen Alpen. -Forstsamengewinnung und Pflanzenanzucht für das Hochgebirge. - BLV, München, 66-73.

Holzer, K. 1993. The evolution of alpine Norway spruce during immigration into high altitudes and its consequences. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 68-78.

Hylen, G. 1997. Genetic variation of wood density and its relationship with growth traits in young Norway spruce. - Silvae Genetica 46: 55-60.

Isik, K., Kleinschmit, J. and Svolba, J. 1995. Survival, growth trends and genetic gains in 17-year-old *Picea abies* clones at seven test sites. - Silvae Genetica 44: 116-128.

Johnsen, Ø. and Skrøppa, T. 1992. Genetic variation in plagiotropic growth in a provenance hybrid cross with *Picea abies.* - Can. J. For. Res. 22: 355-361.

Johnsen, Ø. and Skrøppa, T. 1996 Adaptive properties of *Picea abies* progenies are influenced by environmental signals during sexual reproduction. - Euphytica 92: 67-71.

Johnsen, Ø., Haug, G., Dæhlen, O.G., Grønstad, B.S. and Rognstad, A.T. 1994. Effects of heat treatment, timing of heat treatment, and giberellin A4/7 on flowering in potted *Picea abies* grafts. - Scand. J. For. Res. 9: 333-340.

Johnsen, Ø., Skrøppa, T., Haug, G., Apeland, I. and Østreng, G. 1995. Sexual reproduction in a greenhouse reduced autumn frost hardiness of *Picea abies* progenies. - Tree Physiology 15: 551-555.

Johnsen, Ø., Skrøppa, T., Junttila, O. and Dæhlen, O.G. 1996. Influence of the female flowering environment on autumn frost hardiness of *Picea abies* progenies. - Theor. Appl. Genet. 92: 797-802.

Johnsson, H. 1975. Observations on induced polyploidy in some conifers (*Pinus sylvestris*, *P. contorta*, *Picea abies* and *Larix sibirica*). - Silvae Genetica 24: 62-68.

Karlsson, B. 1993. Twenty years of clonal forestry with Norway spruce in Sweden. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 208-212.

Kaya, Z. and Lindgren, D. 1992. The genetic variation of inter-provenance hybrids of *Picea abies* and possible breeding consequences. - Scand. J. For. Res. 7: 15-26.

Kielland-Lund, J. 1981. Die Waldgesellschaften SO-Norwegens. - Phytocoenologia 9: 53-250.

Kielland-Lund, J. 1994. Syntaxonomy of Norwegian forest vegetation 1993. - Phytocoenologia 24: 299-310.

Kiellander, C.L. 1950. Polyploidy in Picea abies. - Hereditas 36: 513-516.

Kleinschmit, J. 1979. Present knowledge in spruce provenance and species hybridization potential. In: Proc. of the IUFRO Joint Working Parties on Norway Spruce Provenances and Norway Spruce Breeding, Lower Saxony Forest Research Institute, Escherode, 187-201.

Kleinschmit, J. 1993. 25 years Norway spruce breeding in lower Saxony, Germany. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 213-218.

Kleinschmit, J., Müller, W., Schmidt, J. and Racz, J. 1973. Entwicklung der Stecklingsvermehrung von Fichte (*Picea abies* Karst) zur Praxisreife. - Silvae Genetica 22: 4-15.

Kleinschmit, J., Lunderstädt, J. and Svolba, J. 1981. Charakterisierung von Fichtenklonen (*Picea abies* Karst) mit Hilfe morphlogischer, physiologischer und biochemischer Merkmale (III.). - Silvae Genetica 30: 122-127.

Kleinschmit, J., Sauer-Stegmann, A., Lunderstädt, J. and Svolba, J. 1981. Charakterisierung von Fichtenklonen (*Picea abies* Karst). II. Korrelation der Merkmale. - Silvae Genetica 30: 74-82.

Kleinschmit, J. and Svolba, J. 1991. Varation im Wachstum von Fichtenstecklingen (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) in Niedersachsen. - Allg. Forst- und J. Ztg. 162: 7-11.

Konnert, M. and Franke, A. 1991. Die Fichte (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) im Schwarzwald: Genetische Differenzierung von Beständen. - Allg. Forst- u. J. Ztg. 162: 100-106.

Konnert, M. and Maurer, W. 1995. Isozyme investigations on Norway Spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) and European Silver Fir (*Abies alba* Mill.). - Bayerische Landesanstalt für forstliche Saat- und Pflanzenzucht, 79 pp.

Koski, V. 1970. A study of pollen dispersal as a mechanism of gene flow in conifers. - Comm. Inst. For. Fenn. 70.4: 1-78.

Koski, V. 1971. Embryonic lethals of *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*. - Comm. Inst. For. Fenn. 75.3: 1-30.

Koski, V. 1973. On self-pollination, genetic load and subsequent inbreeding in some conifers. - Comm. Inst. For. Fenn. 78.10: 1-42.

Koski, V., Skroppa, T., Paule, L., Wolf, H., Turok, J. 1997. Technical guidelines for genetic conservation of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst). - IPGRI (International Plant Genetic Resources Institute), Rome, 42 pp.

Krutovskii, K.K. and Bergmann, F. 1995. Introgressive hybridization and phylogenetic relationships between Norway, *Picea abies* (L.) Karst, and Siberian, *P. obovata* Ledeb, spruce species studied by isozyme loci. - Heredity 74: 464-480.

Krutzsch, P. 1975. Die Pflanzschulergebnisse eines inventierenden Fichtenher kunftversuches (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst and *Picea obovata* Ledeb.). Dept. of Forest Genetics, Royal Coll. of Forestry, Stockholm. - Res. Notes 14: 1-64 + appendix.

Krutzsch, P. 1992. IUFRO's role in coniferous tree improvement: Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst). - Silvae Genet. 41: 143-150.

Lacaze, J.F. 1969. Etude de la variabilité infraspécifique de l'épicéa (*Picea abies* Karst). Provenances françaises et provenances polonaises. Résultats au stade juvénile. - Ann. Sci. For. 26: 345-396.

Lagercrantz, U. and Ryman, N. 1990. Genetic structure of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*): Concordance of morphological and allozymic variation. - Evolution 44: 38-53.

Langlet, O. 1940. Om utvecklingen av granar ur frö efter sjölvbefruktning och efter fri vindpollinering. - Medd. Statens Skogförsöksanstalt 32: 1-22.

Langlet, O. 1960. Mellaneuropeiska granprovenienser i svenskt skogsbruk. - Kungl. Skogs- och Lantbruksakadamiens Tidsskrift 1960: 261-329.

Langlet, O. 1971. Two hundred years genecology. - Taxon 20: 653-722.

Lindgren, D., Yazdan, R., Lejdebro, M.L. and Lejdebro. L.G. 1991. The spread of conifer pollen from a point source. - Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Report 10: 86-99.

Loumajoki, A. 1993. Climatic adaptation of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karsten) in Finland based on male flowering phenology. - Acta For. Fenn. 242: 1-28.

Lundkvist, K. 1979. Allozyme frequency distribution in four Swedish populations of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* K.). - Hereditas 90: 127-143.

Lundkvist, K. and Rudin, D. 1977. Genetic variation in eleven populations of *Picea abies* as determined by isozyme analyses. - Hereditas 85: 67-74.

Mergen, F., Burley, J. and Yeatman, C.W. 1964. Variation in wood characteristics and wood properties of Norway spruce. - Tappi 47: 499-504.

Mikola, J. 1993. Breeding of Norway spruce in Finland: problems and remedies. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 231-239.

Mo, L.H. 1993. Somatic embryogenesis in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Dept. of Forest Genetics, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala. - Res. Notes 49: 1-63 + Appendices.

Mo, L.H., von Arnold, S. and Lagercrantz, U. 1989. Morphogenic and genetic stability in longterm embryogenic cultures and somatic embryos of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst). - Plant Cell Reports 8: 375-378.

Moe, D. 1970. The post-glacial immigration of Picea abies into Fennoscandia. - Bot. Notiser 123: 61-66.

Mork, E. 1944. Strøfallet i våre skoger. - Meddr norske SkogforsVes. 8: 297-365.

Mork, E. 1945. Om skogbunnens lyngvegetasjon. - Meddr norske SkogforsVes. 9: 269-356.

Mork, E. 1968. Økologiske undersøkelser i Hirkjølen forsøks-område.- Meddr norske SkogforsVes. 25: 463-614.

Muhs, H.-J. 1986. A synopsis of some international and national rules for forest reproductive material moving into trade - OECD-scheme, EEC-directives, and German law of forest reproductive material. - Mitt. Bundesforschungsanstalt für Forst- und Holzwirtschaft, Hamburg, No. 154: 25-37.

Müller, G. 1977. Short note: cross-fertilization in a conifer stand inferred from enzyme gene-markers in seeds. - Silvae Genetica 26: 223-226.

Müller-Starck, G., Baradat, P. and Bergmann, F. 1992. Genetic variation within European tree species. - New Forest 6: 24-47.

Niklov, N. and Helmisaari, H. 1992. Silvics of the circumpolar boreal forest tree species. Pages 13-84 in: Shugart, H.H., Leemans, R. and Bonan, G.B. (eds.): A Systems Analysis of the Global Boreal Forest. - Cambridge University Press, 565 pp.

Nord 1994. Naturskogar i Norden. - Nordisk Ministerråd 1994:7.

Roulund, H. 1981. Problems of clonal forestry in spruce and their influence on breeding strategy. - Forestry Abstracts 42: 457-471.

Ruaud, J.N. 1993. Maturation and conversion into plantlets of somatic embryos derived from needles and cotyledons of 7-56 day-old *Picea abies*. - Plant Science 92: 213-220.

Sarvas, R. 1968. Investigations on the flowering and seed crop of *Picea abies*. - Comm. Inst. For. Fenn. 67.5: 1-84.

Sarvas, R. 1972. Investigations on the annual cycle of development of forest trees. Comm. - Inst. For. Fenn. 67.5: 1-84.

Sauer, A., Kleinschmit, J. and Lunderstädt, J. 1973. Charakterisierung von Fichten-Klonen (*Picea abies* Karst) mit Hilfe morphologischer, physiologischer, und biochemischer Methoden. - Silvae Genetica 22: 173-182.

Sauer-Stegmann, A., Kleinschmit, J. and Lunderstädt, J. 1978. Methoden zur Charakterisierung von Fichtenklonen (*Picea abies* Karst). - Silvae Genetica 27: 085-172.

Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1977. Die Fichte. Band I. Taxomomie - Verbreitung - Morphologie - Ökologie - Waldgesellschaften. - Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg and Berlin.

Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1978. Genetics of Picea abies (L.) Karst. - Annales Forestales 7/5: 147-186.

Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1986. Die Fichte. Band II/1. Wachstun-Züchtung-Boden-Umwelt-Holz. - Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg and Berlin.

Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1989. Die Fichte. Band II/2. Krankheiten-Schäden-Fichtensterben. - Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg and Berlin.

Schmidt-Vogt, H. 1991. Die Fichte. Band II/3. Waldbau-Ökosysteme-Urwald-Wirtschaftswald-Ernährung-Düngung-Ausblick. – Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg and Berlin.

Schneck, V., Fiedler, H., Behm, A., Dimpelmeier, R., Dieterich, H., Eifler, I., Matschke, J., Kleinschmit, J. and Weisgerber, H. 1995. Versuche zur Blühstimulierung in Samenplantagen. - Allg. Forst- u. J.-Ztg. 166:48-60.

Siren, G. 1955. The development of spruce forest on raw humus site in northern Finland and its ecology. - Acta Forestalia Fennica 62: 1-363.

Skoklefald, S. 1993. Naturlig foryngelse av gran og furu.- Aktuelt fra Skogforsk Nr.5-93:3-6.

Skrøppa, T. 1982a. Genetic variation in growth rhythm characteristic within and between natural populations of Norway spruce. A preliminary report. - Silva Fennica 16: 160-167.

Skrøppa, T. 1982b. Breeding strategies with Norway spruce in south-eastern Norway. - In: Proceedings of the IUFRO Joint Meeting of Working Parties on Genetics about Breeding Strategies including Multiclonal Varieties, Sensenstein, 1-9.

Skrøppa, T. 1991. Within-population variation in autumn frost hardiness and its relationships to bud-set and height growth in *Picea abies*. - Scand. J. For. Res. 6: 353-363.

Skrøppa, T. 1993. Variation and inheritance in diallel crosses within natural populations of Norway spruce. In: Rhone, V. (ed.) Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993: 240.

Skrøppa, T. 1996. Diallel crosses in *Picea abies*. II. Performance and inbreeding depression of selfed families. - Forest Genetics 3: 69-79.

Skrøppa, T. and Johnsen, Ø. 1994. The genetic response of plant populations to a changing environment; the case of non-Mendelian processes. - Pages 183-199 in Boyle, T.J.B. and Boyle, C.E.B. (eds.), NATO ANSI Series, Vol. I20. Biodiversity, Temperate Ecosystems, and Global Change. Springer Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Skrøppa, T. and Magnussen, S. 1993. Provenance variation in shoot growth components of Norway spruce. - Silvae Genetica 42: 111-120.

Skrøppa, T. and Tho, T. 1990. Diallel crosses in Norway spruce. I. Variation in seed yield and seed weight. - Scand. J. For. Res. 5: 355-367.

Skrøppa, T., Martinsen, D.R. and Følstad, A. 1993. Vekst og kvalitet av mellomeuropeiske og norske granprovenienser plantet i Østfold. Summary: Growth and quality of Central European and native Norway spruce provenances planted in Østfold. - Research Paper of SKOGFORSK 7/93: 1-20.

Sokolov, S.Y., Svyvasev, O.A. and Kubly, V.A. 1977. Distribution Ranges of the USSR's Tree and Scrub Species - Vol. 1. - Leningrad: Nauka. (In Russian.)

Swedjemark, G. and Stenlid, J. 1996. Variation in spread of *Heterobasidion annosum* in clones of *Picea abies* grown at different vegetation phases under greenhouse conditions. - Scand. J. For. Res. 11: 137-144.

Tigerstedt, P.M.A. 1973. Studies on isozyme variation in marginal and central populations of *Picea abies*. Heriditas 75:47-60.

Tigerstedt, P.M.A. 1979. Genetic adaptation of plants in the subartic environment. - Holarctic Ecology 2:264-268.

Treschow, C. 1958. Forsøg med rødgranracers resistens overfor angreb af *Fomes annosus* (fr.) Cke. (Experiments for determining the resistence of Norway spruce races to *Fomes annosus* attack.) - Forstl. Forsøgsv. Danm. XXV:1-23.

Turok, J., Koski, V., Paule, L. and Frison, E. (eds.). 1995. *Picea abies* Network. Report of the first meeting, 16-18 March 1995, Tatra National Park, Stara Lesna, Slovakia. - International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Italy.

Turok, J. and Koski, V. (compilers). 1997. *Picea abies* Network. Report of the second meeting, 5-7 September 1996, Hyytiälä, Finland. - International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Italy.

Tømmerås, B.Å. 1994. Skogens naturlige dynamikk. Elementer og prosesser i naturlig skogutvikling. - DN-rapport 1994-5: 1-48.

Tømmerås, B.Å., Johnsen, Ø., Skrøppa, T., Hindar, K., Holten, J. and Tufto, J. 1996. Long-term environmental impacts of release of transgenic Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). - NINA•NIKU Project Report 003: 1-48.

van de Sype, H. 1989. A preliminary study of a clonal test of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) originating from Poland. - The Institute for Forest Improvement, Uppsala. Report No. 11: 255-272.

van de Sype, H. 1998. Geographical structure of adaptive traits in the IUFRO 1964/68 experiment. In: Skrøppa et al. (eds.), Genetics and Breeding of Norway Spruce. - Arbora Publishers, Zvolen, Slovakia. (In press.)

van de Sype, H. and Roman-Amat, B. 1989. Analyse d'un test multiclonal d'épicéa commun (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst). Variabilité génétique. - Ann. Sci. For. 46: 15-29.

Vancura, K. 1995. Conservation of Norway spruce genetic resources in the Czech Republic. In: Turok et al. (eds.), *Picea abies* Network. - Report of the first meeting, 16-18 March 1995, Tatra National Park, Stara Lesna, Slovakia. IPGRI, Rome, Italy, 82-90.

von Arnold, S., Egertsdotter, U., Ekberg, I., Gupta, P., Mo, H. and Nörgaard, J. 1995. Somatic embryogenesis in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). In: Jain, S., Gupta, P.K. and Newton, R.J. (eds.), Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants, Vol. 3. - Gymnosperms, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 17-36.

von Arnold, S., Clapham, D., Egertsdotter, U. and Mo, L. H. 1996. Somatic embryogenesis in conifers. A case study of induction and development of somatic embryos in *Picea abies*. - Plant Growth Regulation 20: 3-9.

Walter, C., Grace, L., Lonneborg, A., Kvaalen, H., Wagner, A., Mellerowicz, E. and Walden, A. 1997. Genetic engineering of conifer species: transformation and gene expression studies with transgenic tissues and trees. Program and Abstracts of the Joint Meeting of the IUFRO Working Parties 2.04-07 and 2.04-06 Somatic Cell Genetics and Molecular Genetics of Trees. Quebec City, Canada, 1997, 21.

Wenck, A., Whetten, R., Pullman, G.S. and Sederoff, R.R. 1997. High efficiency agrobacterium mediated transformation of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst). Program and Abstracts of the Joint Meeting of the IUFRO Working Parties 2.04-07 and 2.04-06 Somatic Cell Genetics and Molecular Genetics of Trees. Quebec City, Canada, 1997, 27.

Werner, M. and Danell, Ö. 1993. On the problem of *Picea abies* breeding in Sweden. In: Rhone, V. (ed.), Norway spruce provenances and breeding. - Proceedings of the IUFRO S2.2-11 Symposium Latvia 1993, 247-253.

Werner, M., Karlsson, B. and Palmer, C.H. 1991. Domestic provenances of Norway spruce - a risky alternative for Southern Sweden. Institutet för skogsförbättring. - Information No. 4 1990/1991.

Wescott, R.J. 1994. Production of embryogenic callus from nonembryogenic explants of Norway spruce *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. Plant Cell Reports 14: 47-49.

Wolf, H. 1995. The conservation of Norway spruce genetic resources in the Federal Republic of Germany. In: Turok et al. (eds), *Picea abies* Network. - Report of the first meeting, 16-18 March 1995, Tatra National Park, Stara Lesna, Slovakia, IPGRI, Rome, Italy, 70-78.

Worrall, J. 1970. Interrelationships among some phenological and wood property variables in Norway spruce. - Tappi 53: 58-63.

Xie, C.Y. and Knowles. P. 1994. Mating system and effective pollen immigration in a Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) plantation. - Silvae Genetica 43: 48-52.

# QUESTIONNAIRE TO RETURN TO THE OECD

This is one of a series of OECD Consensus Documents that provide information for use during regulatory assessment of particular micro-organisms, or plants, developed through modern biotechnology. The Consensus Documents have been produced with the intention that they will be updated regularly to reflect scientific and technical developments.

Users of Consensus Documents are invited to submit relevant new scientific and technical information, and to suggest additional related areas that might be considered in the future.

The questionnaire is already addressed (see reverse). Please mail or fax this page (or a copy) to the OECD, or send the requested information by E-mail:

# OECD Environment Directorate Environmental Health and Safety Division 2, rue André-Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France

Fax: (33) 01 45 24 16 75 E-mail: ehscont@oecd.org

For more information about the Environmental Health and Safety Division and its publications (most of which are available electronically at no charge), consult **http://www.oecd.org/ehs/** 

== 1.	Did you find the information in this document useful to your work?
2.	What type of work do you do?         Regulatory       Academic       Industry       Other (please specify)
3.	Should changes or additions be considered when this document is updated?

4. Should other areas related to this subject be considered when the document is updated?

Institution or company:				
Address:				
City:	Postal code:	Country:		
Telephone:	Fax:	. E-mail:		
Which Consensus Document are you commenting on?				

•

#### FOLD ALONG DOTTED LINES AND SEAL

------

Place Stamp Here

OECD Environment Directorate Environmental Health and Safety Division 2, rue André Pascal 75775 Paris Cedex 16 France